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Town of Whitby
Office of the Town Clerk
575 Rossland Road East, Whitby, ON L1N 2M8
www.whitbv.ca

April 30,2015

Sent Via Courier

Ontario Heritage Trust
10 Adelaide Street East
Toronto, ON M5C 1J3

Re: Passage of By-law to Designate James Keith Gordon House and James Madill
House
312 Colborne Street West, Whitby

Please be advised that the Town of Whitby Council enacted By-law # 6988-15 at its
meeting held on April 20, 2015 to designate the above noted property in the Town of
Whitby, as being of cultural heritage value or interest under Part lV of the Ontario
Heritage Act, R.S.O. 1990, O.18, Part lV, Section 29.

A copy of the Notice of Passing of the by-law, in addition to copy of By-law # 6988-15
has been attached for your reference.

Further information regarding this matter may be obtained by contacting the
undersigned.

Sincerely,

905-430-4300 ext. 2364
ea$e_ls_@y$Iby !a

SC/lam

Encl.

Copy: D. Wilcox, Town Clerk
R. Short, Commissioner of Planning
S. Ashton, Planner ll, Planning Department
A. Oosterlo, Committee Secretary

Sudan Cassel,



The Corporation of the Town of Whitby
Office of the Town Clerk
575 Rossland Road East
Whitby, ON L1N 2MB
www.whitby.ca

Town of Whitby
Notice

Notice of Passing of Heritage Designation By-law

Take notice that the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Whitby enacted By-law # 6988-15 at its

meeting held on April 20,2015 to designate the following property in the Town of Whitby, as being of
culturai heritage value or interest under Part lV of the Ontario Heritage Act, R.S.O. 1990, Part lV,

Section 29.

James Keith Gordon House
James Madill House

312 Colborne Street West
Lot 21, 1"t Double Range PL H50032
Lot22, 1"'Double Range PL H50032
Lot 23, 1't Double Range PL H50032
Lot 24, 1"t Double Range PL H50032

Whitby, Ontario

Description of Cultural Heritage Value and Interest
The James Keith Gordon House (formerly 316 Colborne Street)
The cultural heritage value of the James Keith Gordon House can be seen in the modest house

design and site arrangement. This building, located in the south-west corner of the property, is an

example of the Ontario Gothic Revival style constructed in the later 19th century in Whitby. Typical of
this style, the well proportioned building form along with its street setback and positioning are all

essential to its character. The house was constructed in 1877 by prominent local mason, Thomas
Deverill and carpenterWilliam Websterfor lawyer, James Keith Gordon (1830-1909).

The James Madill House (formerly 117 King Street)
The cultural heritage value of the James Madill House can be seen in the quality of workmanship,
design and site arrangement. This building, located at the north-west corner of the property, is an

example of the Georgian style constructed in the later 1gth century in Whitby. Typical of this style, the
well-proportioned building form, along with its street setback and positioning are all essential to its
character. The house was constructed in 1876 for James Madill, a retired farmer.

Description of Heritage Attributes
The James Keith Gordon House
Key exterior attributes that exemplify the heritage value of the James Keith Gordon House as an
example of an Ontario Gothic Revival style include:

. Rectangular plan with a one and a half-storey addition on the rear or eastern elevation

. Original wooden window frames, trim and sashes with double hung single pane two-over-two
windows. Original exterior stucco finish which has undergone restoration and repainting



The James Madill House
Key exterior attributes that exemplify the heritage value of the James Madill House as an example of
a two-storey Georgian styled dwelling include:

. Rectangular plan with symmehical front fagade featuring a three bay design and incorporating
a low hipped roof. Projecting eaves with a plain soffit delineated by a molded frieze and paired brackets

. Red stretcher-bond brickwork with window openings defined by flat segmental arches

. Original wooden window frames and exterior trim. While not original to the building, the
windows are two over two wooden sash and new wooden storm windows have been installed
to preserve the integrity of the original building design

A copy of the by-law is available from the Office of the Town Clerk upon request.

Dated at the Town of Whitby this 6th day of May, 2015.

Debi A. Wilcox, MPA, CMO, CMM lll
Town Clerk
Town of Whitby
Phone: 905.430.4315
Far 905.686.7005
Email: clerk@whitbv.ca

Publication: May 6, 2015 Whitby This Week

Copy: File - P55-JK
S. Ashton, Staff Liasion, LACAC Heritage Whitby
A. Oosterlo, Committee Secretary
D. Wilcox. Town Clerk
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Town of Whitby
By-law # 6988-15

Heritage Designation By-law
Being a By-law to designate the James Keith Gordon House and James /adill House,
312 Colborne Street West, Lots21,22,23 and 24. Plan H50032. 1st Double Range.
Whitby as being of cultural heritage value and interest.

Whereas, in accordance with the provisions of Section 29 of the Ontario Heritage Act,
the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Whitby considers it desirable to designate
the property, hereinafter described to be of cultural heritage value and interest,

And VVhereas, the Council of the said Corporation has caused to be served to the
owner, general public and upon the ontario Heritage Trusl, notice of its intention to
designate the property known as the James Keith Gordon House and James Madill
House to be of cultural heritage value and interest and has caused such notice to be
published in a newspaper having general circulation in the Town of Whitby:

And Whereas, no person has served a notice of oblection to the proposed designation
on the Clerk of the said Corporation;

Now lherefore, the Council of The Corporation of the Town of Whitby hereby enacts as
follows:

1. General

1.1. The property known as the James Keith Gordon House and James Madill
House.312 Colborne Street West, Lols 21 ,22,23and24, Plan H50032, 1st
Double Range, and more parlicularly described in Schedule 'A' attached to
and forming part of this by-law is designated as being of cultural heritage
value and interest.

2. Schedule(s)

21 Schedule'A'- Desrgnation Statement and Report of 312 Colborne Street
West, Whitby as prepared on November 10,2014 by D. Gardner.

3. Effective Date

3.1 . The provrsior]s of this by-law shall come into force and take effect on the day
of the final passing thereot



By-law Name: Heritage Designation By-law
By-law # 6988-1 5

ByJaw read and passed this 20th day of April, 2015.

jil-..-'r

Page 2 of 2

Don Mitchell.

Debi A. Wilcox, Town Clerk



By-law 6988-15 - Schedule A

312 COLBO RN E STREET WEST
WHITBY, ONTARIO
DESIGNATION STATEMENT AND REPORT
James Madill House and James Keith Gordon House

Prepared by Deirdre GardnerNovember 1O, 2014



DESIGNATION STATEMENT

DESCRIPTIONOF TH EPROPERTY
312 COLBO R N E STREET WEST, WHITBY,ONTARIO
PLAN H-50032 LOT 21, 22

The subject property is bordered by colborne street to the souih, the central Public Library to

the west, a commercial plaza to the north, and a municipal parking area to the east. The

property consists of two heritage buildings; the James Madill House located at the north-west

corner of the property, and the James Keith Gordon House located at the south west corner of

the property.

STAT EMENTOF CULTURAL HERTTAGE VATUE ORINTEREST

The James Madill House (formerly 117 King Street)
The cultural heritage value of the James Madill House can be seen in the quality of

workmanship, design and site arrangement. This building, located at the north'west corner of

the property, is an example of the Georgian style constructed in the later lgth century in

Whitby. Typical of this style, the well proportioned building form, along with its street setback

and positioning are all essentialto its character.

The house was constructed in 1876 for James Madill, a retireci farmer.

The James Keith Gordon House (formerly 316 Colborne Street)

The cultural heritage value of the James Keith Gordon House can be seen in the modest house design and
site arrangement. This building, located in the south-west corner of the property, is an example of the
Ontario 6othic Revival style constructed in the later 19th century in Whitby. Typical of this style, the well-
proportioned building form along with its street setback and positioning are all essentialto its character.

the house was constructed in 1877 by prominent local mason, Thomas Deverill and carpenter William
Webster for lawyer, James Keith Gordon {1830'1909).

DESCRIPTION OF HERITAGE ATTRIBUT€S

The James Madill House (formerly 117 King Street)
Key exterior i]ttributes thrt rx(,rnplity lll(' llcfit;rgc virluo ol thc Inmct M;rdill Ho(r!o irl tn cx;rnrple of a

two-storcy Georgiln stylerl dwellang in(lud(':
. Rcctangular plnn with synlmetrical lronl t;r(ndc fr','ltrlrirrg n llrroc b;iy doSrlln rnd incorpor;ttin8;) lov/

hioDcd rool
. ProioctinB cavos with i plain solfil delincnl('d by a rDoltlcd lfl(:20 and t)aired br.rck(:ts

. Red strctcller-l)ond brrckwork wrlh wrrr(l(rw rrtx,nrrr{lr (l{'ftrrr'cl try llat \{',inr('r t.rl ,,rCho',

. Ont{in;rlwooden \tuindow lranrcs arrrl ('xlcr or lnDr. \whrlc riol o {lIrdl to thc l)url(lrrlg, thc w||rdows

irro two over tvJo woodon sash artd now woodcn \tcrrnr wrrrdows lr:rve becn Insl;rllcd to prc\ervc tho

intoflrity ol the origrnal buildi ll dcsrgrr



The James Keith Gordon House (formerly 316 colborne Street)

Key exterlor attributes that exemplify the heritage value of the James Keith Gordon House as an example

of an Ontario Gothic Revival stvle include;

. Rectangular plan with a one and a half-storey addition on the rear or eastern elevation

. Original wooden window frames, trim and sashes with double hung single pane two over-two

windows
. Originalexterior stucco finish which has undergone restoration and repainting
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DESIGNATION REPORT

THE JAMES MADILL HOUSE
. 3I2COLBORNESTREET WEST

WHITBY,ONTARIO
PLAN H-50032 LOT 27,22

P re pa redby DeirdreGardner N ove m be I lo, 20 | 4



The rames Keith Gordon House (formerly 315 Colborne Street)

Key exterior attributes that exemplify the heritage value of the James Keith Gordon House as an example

of an Ontario Gothic Revival stvle include:

. Rectangular plan with a one and a half-storey addition on the rear or eastern elevation

. original wooden window trames, trim and sashes with double hung single pane two over-two

windows
. Original exterior stucco finish which has undergone restoration and repainting



THEJAMES MADILLHOUSE,3l2 CO L B OR N E 5TR EE T W E ST,W H IT BY, O N TA RI O
PLAN H-50032 LOr 21,22

DESCRIPTIONOF THE PROPERTY

TheJames Madill House, was built in 1876, on the property municipally referred to as 117 King

Street, and was originally a roughcast stucco building, that was finished in brick circa 1902. The

house was built on the north half of lot 21 of the Werden Plan. The lot was originally part of the
land owned by Asa Werden, a prominent land owner who owned all of the land extending
from Brock Street in the east to Henry Street in the west, Dundas Street to the north and

Burns street to the south. These lands wer€ registered as Werden's Plan in 1854. The lot was

originally purchased by William Shaw who sold the lot to John Shaw on December 1.2,1854.
JohnShaw soldthelottoRobertSpenceonJanuary2T, 1855. The property remained in the
Spence family until Mary Spence, widow of Robert, sold the lot to James.Jaffrey on September
6, 1873. On June 30, 1876, James Jaffrey sold the lot to James Madill, a retired farmer.

CONTEXT

The James Madill House is a two-storey brick house located near the north-east corner of the
intersection of King Street and Colborne Street West in Whitby. The house faces west on King

Street.

The James Madill House is a GeorBian style house, typical of many of the houses built in

Ontario during the period trom 1830-1890. The hcuse was constructed in 1876 when a

number of significant buildings were constructed on Colborne Street. Located on the south
east corner of Colborne Street near King, Street was the Whitby Collegiate Institute that was
completed in 1873. The original school building on the site was the Whitby Grammar School
that was built in 1846. Also constructed in the mid,1870s, was the Methodist Tabernacle
Church built in 1875-76 at the south-east corner of Colborne and Centre Streets. The Whitby
Baptist Church was located on the north,west corner of Centre and Colborne Sireets. The

building was constructed as a Canada Presbvterian Church in 1869 then the congregation
amalgamated with 5t. Andrew's Presbyterian Church ln 1875. From 1876 to 1967, the former
Presbyterian Church served as the Whltby Baptist Church until it was denrolished in 1977

On November 9, 1876, the local newspaper, Ihe Whitby Chronicle, provided a report of new
construction in town including: "Mr. Madill, two-storey roughcast building 30 x 32, off Centre
Street." The house was bcing constructcd on King Strcct but misidentiJied as being on Centre
Street which is thc next block to the east.

In 1902, after the house was pufcfras('d l)V Jamr'5 Long, a brlck exterior finish replaced the
original roughca5t slucLo and a pror{'cl og bricl( lront porch was added over the main
entrance. In 1975, att{.r Sembra Holdtngi purctrast,d thc property, a concrr.tc block addition
wlth a stucco finish was addod to thc oast orroar laC.rdc ofthe house, and on lhesouth side of
thc hou:e an enclosed stairway was added. Thr' slairway was also constructed of conoctr. blo.k
with a stucco {inlsh.
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ARCHITECTURAL STYTE

The James Madill House is a good example of the Georgian architectural style. In Britain,

the Georgian period extends through the reigns of the four British King Georges (George I

to George lv reigning from 1715-1830) to the ascension of Queen Victoria in 1837 The

stvle incoroorated influences and elements of architecture from classical Rome, the

Renaissance and the dcsigns of 16th century architoct, Andrca Palladio.

In Upper canada, provincial craftsmen built houses in the Georgian style decades after the
popularity of the style had waned in Britain. Georgian architecture can be characterized by

a formal arrangcment of distinctive details. Symmetrical compositions were enriched with
classical details. The GeorBian style in Upper Canada incorporated symmetrical facades,

6eorgian proportions, sash windows and external shutters.

Georgian houses were typically we ll-proportioned and rectangular in shape- Houses were

often situated close to the street and designed to fit the shape of the lot. Georgian
houses were characterized by the handsome symmetry of their front facades with the
entrancc doorway the chief fcaturc. Doorways wcre often embellished with decorative
woodwork including pilasters, sidelights and rectangular transoms, or more elaborate
decorative semi-elliptical transoms, and elaborate pedlments. Windows were evenly
spaced and directly in line with each other and the doorway adding to the symmetry.
The windows wcre usually double hung with six pancs per sash. Shutters, usually
louvercd, further embellished and protected the windows. Thc standard room placement

in Georgian houses is four rooms to a floor, "four over four", opening off a central hall,

with interior chimneys at each end of the house. Wings were commonly added to the
rcar, creating an L or T in the floor plan.

JAMES MADITL HOUSE

Thc lames Madill House is a two storey housc rcctangular in plan. The house has a

symmetrical front fagade featuring a threc bay design and incorporating a low hipped roof. lt

has projecting eaves with a plain soffit delineated by a molded frieze and paired brackets. Thc

chimney on the northern elevation was rebuilt in May 1996 and is not original.

The front porch dates from circa 1902 when the ori8inalr()ughcast exterior finish was rcplaccd

by a brick exterior. The housc incorporatcs rcd strclchcr-bond brickwork. The front porch

proiects {rom the ccntral marn enlrance with strarght st,rirs and is composed of brick arches on

the side and front elevations. The p(xch de5ign dl:,o Incorpordtes corner brick pillars and a

repeating decorative 5aw looth brick course nedr the rool llne and the lower walls ol the sides

of the porch. The main door is thc principal ornamcntal fcirlure of the original Georgian fagade

delined by a boxed corner molding and a transom abovo the door.

The windolv openings are del neated bV i at segmental arches. The plain window f ra mes anc

exterior trim are wooden and original. Whrle not onglnal to lhe buiidrng, the windows are two
over twcl wooden sash. New wooden slorm windows hdve been inst,rlled to preserve the



integrity of the original building design.

The east or rear fagade of the house has had a concrete block addition added in 1975. On the

south side of the house, an enclosed stairway constructed of concrete block with a stucco

linish was added. The windows on the eastern elevation are divided into two panes and

constructed of hollow metal frames.
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The exterior of the house had been painted in the late 1950s or early 1960s. The paint was

chemically removed from the exteriot brick in 2004. The house interior was also modernized at

this time.

OWN ERSHIP HISTORY

James Madill (1821-1911) was born in County Monaghan, lreland on December 11, 1821 and

came to Pickering Township in 1837. He married Margaret Finney (1825-1907) on July 28,

1846 and farmed in Manvers Township from 1845 to 1873. The Madill's retired to whitby in

1873 and purchased the lot on KinSStreetinJunel3T6.TheMadill'sresidedatllTKinBStreet
from 1876 to 1897. ln 1897, Mr. and Mrs Madill moved to Toronto to reside with their son,

James I r. Their house was sold on May 9, 1902toJames Long (1848-1921).

Mr. Long was born in Pickering Township in 1848. In 1886, he opened a flour, feed and grocery

business on the north side of Dundas Street west in whitby which remained in business unttl

his death in 1921. After the sale of the house to James Lon8, the roughcast exterior was

finished in brick and a projectinB brick front porch was added over the main entrance. Mr. Long

was a Whitby council member representing the centre ward from 1885'1886, and served on

the executive of the South Ontario County Liberal Association. Hemarried MargaretAnne

Ryan(1872 1962 ) in 1892 and had a large family of eight child ren. After hls death in 1921, the

Longfamilycontinuedtoresideatl'lTKingstreetuntil 1950. The daughters ofJamesLongsold

the property to Katherine Osborne, the wife of a real estate agent, Gordon F. Osborne who sold

the house to Raymond and Nevada Kennedy who sold the house back to the Osborne's in 1952-

On January 23, 1953, the house was sold to Hylke Visser. The Visser tamily came to Whitby from

Hoiland in 1953 and operated the Visser Bakery at 141 Brock Street south. On February 11,

1974, Hvlke (Herb) Visser Jr. sold the house to David J. Sims, a lawyer who established his law

office in the build inB.

David l. sims cstablished a law practice in Whitby in 1973. In 1979, David Sims, with the

as:istance of All Saints AnSlican Church, purchasod the neighbouring house at 3'16 Colborne

Street West (the James Keith Gordon House) to be used .ls .r halfway house for persons

suffering from mental illness. Colborne House eventually became known as Colborne

Community Services and established five halt-way houses in Whitby. Colborne House opened in

1979 and by 1994, had movt'd to a new location.

David J. Sims sold 117 King Street to Sembra Holdings Limited on April 3, 1975 On August

10, 1995, Sem bra Holdings sold 117 KinB Street and 316 Colborne Street west to the Town of

Whitby. These properties were amalgamated and are municipally (:ferred to 312 Colborne Street West.

Theproperties were Boing to be dr:molishecl to provido add itio rral parkingforthentlwlibrary

thatwascon5tru(tedduring 2OO4 2AO5. n HeritaBe Buildingt Condition Report was

(on(luct.'d to asses5 bUllding Conditions, and pos! bl(l r(lnovation oradaptive reUS(l opllons.

This a5se!sment was the basis ior retent on and proposed l'l{rrrlaEe desiSnation of the two

builclings onr e they were restort'd atrcl upclated. A cit:clston vra: maile to restore the two

houses and de5ig,nate them Lrndcr th{r Oniarlo HelltaS(l Act.
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integrity of the original building design.

The east or rear fagade of the house has had a concrete block addition added in 1975. On the

south side of the house, an enclosed stairway constructed ol concrete block with a stucco

finish was added. The windows on the eastern elevation are divided into two panes and

constructed of hollow metal frames.
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Aerial MaD of 312 Colborne Street West showing current roads, property boundary, and

tocation of the James Madill House and James Keith Gordon House, both ldcated on the site.
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Front entrance of ll7 King5treel wilh brick porch addcd circij 1902.

woocl rnoldrnU aDd arclr (lelai 01 lforrl porcll



Northwest corner of 117 King Strcct, Whitby, Ontario
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Rear addition ot 117 King Street, Whitby
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CO NTEXT AND SETTING

A view of the house on the

south-west corner ol King and

Colborne Street built between

1875 and 1880 by Andrew M.

Ross (1851'1936), !vho was a

dry goods merchant and a

mayor of Whitby. (Whitby

Archives Photo collcction)



The Whitby Collegiate Institute built in 1873 was located on the south east corner of Colborne

Street remodeled in 1915 and demolished in 1975 76. This view looking east on Colborne

Street from King Street appeared in the Ontario County Souvenir, 1854-19O4. The church

steeple in the background is the Methodist Tabernacle Chutch situatcd at Colborne Jnd Centre

Streets

The original building on the site was the Whitby Grammar School built in 1846. I he building

served as the Collegtate Institute from 1880-19i1 and as Whrtby HiSh School from 1911

1954. After Henry Street HiSh School was built in 1954, this school was used as a Senior Public

School for grades 7 and 8. (Whilby Archives Photo CollectLon)

The Methodist Tabernacle Church was built in 1875

76 at the south east corner of Centre and Colborne

Streets. lt became the whitby united Church in 1925

nnd 51. Mark's United Church in l(162 On Aprtl 1,

1929, ir storrn blew down the church sleeple. The

steeple lell onte Colborne Slr('et. {Whitby n r( hrvcs

l'h01o Collection )



Photo of the Whitby Baptist

Church circa 1910 located on

the north-west corner of
Centre and Colborne Streets.

This building was constructed

as a Canada Presbyterian

Church in 1869 and the

congregation amalgamated

with St. Andrew's Presbyterian

Church in 1875. From 1876 to
1967 it served as the Whitby
Baptist Church until it was

demolished in 1977. {WhitbV
Archives Photo Collection/

Adjacent to 312 Colborne Street

was the house owned by G.Y.

smith, a lawyer and later a

judBe. The house was situated on

the large lot bounded by Dundas,

Henry, Colborne and King

Streets. The house was buiit in
1877 and later demolished in

1958. A later owner was Samuel

Trees, owner of the blanket

factory and later the buckle

factory. (Whatby Archives Photo

lobe a!! ry]!il, Torollp.26 Oct 1B89 (Vr'hrtby Archives-P,hoto qqllqctlon)
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DESIGNATION REPORT

THE JAMES KEITH GORDON HOUSE

3l2COLBORNE STREET WEST
WHITBY,ONTARIO
PLAN H-50032 LOr 2r,22

PreparedbyDeirdre Gatd nerN ovember 10,2014



THE JAMES KEITH GORDON
WHITBY, ONTARIO
PLAN H-50032 LOT 2T,22

HOU5E,312 COTBORNE STR E ET WE5T,

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY
The James Keith Gordon House, was built in 1877 by local builders, Thomas Deverill, a mason

and prominent builder in Whitby, and William Webster, a carpenter. The local newspaper, the

Whitby Chronicle, reported on November 22, 1877, that "Mr. .i.K. Gordon has had built a

comfortable roughcast residence almost opposite the high school. The size is 32 x 24, with wing

15 leet square. cost aboul S1200."

The house was built on the south half of lot 21 of Werden's Plan. The lot was originally part of

the land owned by Asa Werden, a prominent land owner who owned all of the land extending

from Brock Street in the east to Henry Street in the west, Dundas Street to the north and Burns

Street to the south. These lands were registered as Werden's Plan in 1854.

William Gordon {1825-1907) purchased the south half of lot 21 on May 9, 1864. On February

17, 1,877 , William Gordon sold the lot to James Cameron who immediately sold the p roperty to

James Keith Gordon (1830'1909). James Keith Gordon was born in Scotland and immigrated to

Whitby in 1838. Mr. Gordon was a lawyer in Whitby and opened a law office in December

1863. He r€mained in prrctice for forty five years. James Keith Gordon married Victori;)

Pentland (1837-1918), the daughter of Reverend Johrr Pentland, the first rector of St. John's

Anglican Church located al Port Whitby.

CONTEXT

The James Gordon llouse, located al the south-west corner of 312 Colborne Street West is a

one and a half storev house. The house faces south on Colborne Street but originally

faced west. The Goad's ftre Insurance Atlas of June 1911 confirms the house had a similar

setback to other contemporarv structures located on King Street and Colborne street West

The James Keith Gordon Houie is a roughcast Ontario Gothic Revival style building, typicalof

manyofthe houses burlt in ontario (luring the perioC 1830to 1890. The house was

constructed in 1877 when a numberof srgnificantbuildingswereconstructedonColborne
Street. Located on the south-east corner of Colborne Street across from the location of the

James Keith Gordon house w,rs the Whltby Collegiate Insiitule that was completed in 1873.

Thc original 5chool building on lhc:,rt(. wi1 tlre wlritllY Grammar School that was built in 1846.

Also constructed in the m (1.1870',, wn! lhe Metho(list Iabernacle Church bui t in 1875-76 at

the south east corner of Colborne dnLl Centre 5treet5. I he Whrtby B.rptist Churah was located

on the norlh wcst corneT of Cer]trc and Colbornc Streets. The buidlng was constrLlctc(l ,15 .i

Canada presbyterian Church n 1869 th{'n lh1'congreilation amal8dmated with St. Andrew's

Presbyl('rian Church in 18,/5. fron) 1.q7b l(l 1967, it served a', the Whrtby Baptist Chtrr.h unltl

it was demo ished in 1977.
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A R C H I T E C T U R A I. 5 T Y I. E

The James Keith Gordon House is built in the Gothic Revival style in a design often referred

to as the "Ontario House" or "Ontario Farmhouse" style, a distinctive example of Ontario

vernacular architecture, which featured characteristic Gothic Revivaldetailing.

This residentjal style found extensively in Southern Ontario was recognizable by its

symmetrical fagadc with centre gable, and clcgant bargeboard designs derived from Gothic

window tracery. The design incorporated an emphasis on vertical elements with steep gables,

tall and narrow windows and often an archcd window in the central gable dormer. The

houses were often rectangular in plan with kitchen additions added to the rear which created

a T shaped plan. There arc many variations on this basic design, depending on local materials

with exterior tinishes including stone, brick, stucco, board and batten and wood siding. Interior

chinlneys were located at each end of the house.

The Gothic Revival was one of the most popular residential styles in Ontarlo in the 19th century

The style was promoted in the Canadian Farmer in the 1860s. Part of the popularity of the style

was associatcd with thetaxlawsinUpperCanadaduringthisperiod.Theoneandahalfstorey
design created a less expensive tax rate than a full two-storey structure. As thc style evolved,

the pitch of the roofs became steeper to allow for more space on the second floor while

keeping within the tax limits.

JAMES KEITH GORDON HOUSE

The.lames Keith Gordon House is a one and a half storcy house rectanBular in plan designed in

the Ontario Gothic Revival style and built in 1877. The house has a one and a half-storey

addrtion on the rear or eastern elevation.

The main entrance would have originally have been on the King Street elevation below the

centralgable facing west. lhe enclosed porch on the southern faCade would have been an

open air side porch which has now become the principal entrance An archivalphoto ddting

from 1904 (see below) shows details of the original open air porch including the supports,

shutters, and Screen door. Original exterior decorative details such as bargeboard and shuttcrs

are missing except for one drop finial on the western fagade

-fhe covered porch is of wood construction and is an addition dating from circa the 1920s. The

architectural style of the porch is of this later era and lncludes window and door dctails of this

pe nod.

Ihe originalexterior roug,hcast stucco would have been applied over wood sheathing often

eight inch shiplap with a V groove at each horirontaliolnt. The exterior stucco finish

underwent restoralion in 2005 and was repainled.

The nrajoritv of the woo(leu window frames, trrm and sashes are oriEinal,rnd are doubie hung

slngle pdne two over-two wrn(lows n ll i,xteriof storm windows were replaced with new wood

storms durlng the last major renovstion in 2005 preservrnE the integrity of lhe originalbuildrng

design.



OWNERSHIP HISTORY

The James Keith Gordon House remained in the Gordon family from its time of construction in

1877 u n t i I the death of Mrs. James Keith Gordon in 1918. From 1918 to 1953, the house was

owned by Annie Elizabeth Rodd who purchased the house on July 22, 1918. From 1953 to
1958, the house was owned by Edna Florence Guthrie (1887-1982).

On October 21, 1968, Edna Guthrie sold the house to James O. Dalrymple, a surgeon who
resided in the house then rented the property. On August 15, 1979, Dr. Dalrymplc sold the

house to lawyers David Sims, John Brady, Michael Mclnerney, and Robert Morton.

In 1979, David Sims, with the assistance of All Saints Anglican Church, purchased 316

Colborne street (James Keith Gordon House) to be used as a halfway house for persons

suffering from mental illncss. The building became known as Colborne House and eventually

became known as Colborne Community Services and established five half-way houses in

Whitby. Colborne House opened in 1979 and by the 1990s, had moved to a new location.

In scptember 1990, 316 Colbornc Strect West, was sold to Sembra Holdings Lamited. On

August 10, 1995,sembra HoldinBs sold both 316 Colborne Street west and 117 KinS street to

the Town of Whitby. These properties were amalEamated and arc municipally rcferrcd to as

312 Colborne street West.

The properties were going to be demolished to provide additional parking for the ncw library

that \,/as constructed durinB 2004-2005- A Heritage BuildinSs Condition Report wes conducted

to assess building conditions, and possible renovation or adaptive reuse options. This

assessment was the basis for retention and proposcd hcritage dcsignation of thc two buildings

once thev wcrc rcstored and updated. A decision was made to restore the lwo houses and

designate them und€r thc Ontario Heritage Act.



Aerial Map of 312 Colborne Street West showing current roads, property boundary, and location of the

James Madill House and James Keith Gordon House, both located on the site.
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Members of the Gordon family seated on the front
porch of their residence located atthe north-east

corner of King and Colborne Streets in 1904. From left

to right; Victoria Gordon (nee Pentland, 1837 1918),

Paul M. Newton (1898-1997), James Keith Gordon
(1830 1909), and Jean Newton (nee Gordon, 1868

1946).

(Whitby Archrves phot o C ollectron )
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CONTEXT AND SETTING - ARCHIVAL P HOTOS

A view of the house on the
south west corner of King and

Colborne Street built between
1875 and 1880 by Andrew M.

Ross (1851-1936), who was a

dry goods merchant and a

mayor of Whitby. This

contemporary house of 312

Colborne street provides a

sample of period bargeboa rd

and detailing. The 189O archival
photo also records the style of
the original side porch, then the
later alteration. {Whitby
Archives Photo Collection)
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The Whitby Collegiate Institule built in 1873 lvas located on the south-east corner of

Colborne Street remodelc,d in 1915 and demolished in 1975 76. This view lookinB ca5t on

Colborne Street lrom KinB Street appeared in the Ontario County Souvenir, 1854 1904. The

church steeple in the background is the Methodist Tabernacle siluated at Colborne and

Centre Streets

The original building on the site was the Whitby Grammar School buill in 1846. The building

served as the Collegiate Institute from 1880-1911 and as Whitby High School lrr)m 19l l 1954.

After Henry Strcet High Schooi w.rs built in 1954, this scl'tool w:]s used as al 5cnior Public School

for grades 7 and E. (Whltby Archaves Photo Collection)

The Methodisl Tabernacle was built ir 1875 76 a1 the

south east corner of Centre and Colborne Streets. lt
became the Whitby Unrted Church in 1925 and St.

Mark's t.inited ChLrrch in 1967 on Apr | 1, 19?9, a

storm blew down the church steeple. The stc'c'ple lell
onto Colborne Street. (Whitby Arch ves Phot.)

Collect lo nl
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The Whitby Baptist Church circa

1910 on the north-west corner

of Centre and Colborne Streets.

This building was constructed

as a Canada Presbyterian
Church in 1869 and the
congregation amaltamated
with St. n ndrew's Presbyterian

Church in 1875. From 1876 to
1967 it served as the Whitby
Baptist Church until it was

demolished in 1977. (Whitby

Archives Photo Collection)

Adjacent to 312 Colborne Street
was the house owned by G.Y.

smith, a lawyer and later a

judge. The house was situated on
the large lot bounded by Dundas,

Henry, Colborne and King

5treets. The house was built in
1877 and later demolished in

1958. A later owner was Samuel
Trees, owner of the blanket
factory and later the buckle

factory.(Whitby Archives Photo

Collection/
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